#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner-Appellant,

V.

**DEWEY HOMER VARNER, JR.,** 

**Respondent-Appellee.** 

Case No. SC96743

TFB Case No. 2000-50,249(15D)

#### **THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF**

#### DAVID M. BARNOVITZ, #0335551

Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 835 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954) 772-2245

#### **JOHN A. BOGGS**, #253847

Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5839

#### JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. #123390

Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5839

#### **

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

#### <u>Case</u>

The bar charged respondent with the commission of several violations of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar in connection with respondent's knowing submission of a phony notice of voluntary dismissal to conclude a settlement of a civil action that respondent had represented had been filed, but which, in fact, had not.

The bar's complaint was filed on October 14, 1999. The final hearing was held on February 22, 2000, and March 23, 2000. The referee, finding that respondent had violated two of the nine rules charged in the bar's complaint, recommended that respondent receive a thirty-day suspension and that respondent pay the bar's costs.

The referee's report was considered by the bar's board of governors at the meeting which ended June 3, 2000. The board determined to petition for review of the referee's findings of no violation with respect to violations charged by the bar and from the referee's sanction recommendation and to seek a ninety-one day suspension.

#### <u>Facts</u>

1. Respondent, Dewey Homer Varner, is and at all times hereinafter mentioned was, a member of The Florida Bar subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida [See agreed statement of facts].

2. On December 21, 1998, respondent, at an examination under oath of a client, in referring to a 1997 accident involving such client, Martha Janet Utterback, and

in the presence of Ms. Utterback and State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company representatives, Ed Welch and Evan B. Plotka, represented that he had filed suit on behalf of Ms. Utterback against State Farm, referring to the 1997 accident. When respondent made such statement, he believed it to be true [See agreed statement of facts].

3. At the conclusion of the taking of the examination under oath hereinabove referenced, respondent engaged in conversation with Mr. Welch concerning the settlement of the suit [See agreed statement of facts].

4. During such conversation, respondent informed Mr. Welch that respondent would settle such suit, for attorney's fees in the amount of \$200 and a filing fee in the amount of \$215 whereupon it was agreed by respondent, on behalf of respondent's client and by Mr. Welch, on behalf of State Farm that the suit be settled by payment from State Farm of the sum of \$415 [See agreed statement of facts].

5. On December 30, 1998, State Farm issued and forwarded to respondent's law firm a check in payment of the settlement amount of \$415, which check was received and deposited into the law firm's account [See agreed statement of facts].

6. The check was accompanied by a December 30, 1998, letter to respondent requesting that respondent furnish to State Farm a voluntary dismissal with prejudice of the suit that respondent represented had been filed [See agreed statement of facts].

3

7. On or about January 27, 1999, respondent was notified of a telephone message from Mr. Welch requesting that the voluntary dismissal be sent to him [See agreed statement of facts].

8. Respondent instructed his secretary to prepare a notice of voluntary dismissal [See agreed statement of facts].

9. Respondent's secretary, complying with respondent's instruction, prepared a voluntary dismissal and delivered it to respondent informing him at the time of such delivery that she had not been able to fill in a file number because no action had ever been commenced. Respondent took the voluntary dismissal, filled in a fictitious court file number and thereafter executed the same and mailed a copy to Mr. Welch [See agreed statement of facts].

10. When respondent filled in the fictitious file number after having been told by his secretary that no action had ever been commenced, he did so in his secretary's presence [Final hearing transcript, page 100].

11. Respondent's secretary, referring to the events surrounding respondent's execution and mailing of the phony notice of dismissal, testified:

Q. When you gave it to Mr. Varner did you have any discussion regarding the pleading?

A. I told him that I couldn't - you know, didn't find that any suit had been filed on this case. It didn't appear that suit had been filed.

- Q. And what did Mr. Varner do?
- A. He signed the pleading and he mailed it.
- Q. Well, did he place a file number on it?
- A. Yes.
- Q. When did he do that?
- A. At the time that I was talking to him about it.
- Q. So he did that in your presence?
- A. (The witness nods head in the affirmative).
- Q. Yes?
- A. As best as I remember, yes.

Q. Did you have any discussion with Mr. Varner regarding his ascribing a fictitious number to that document?

A. No.

Q. You knew that it was a fictitious number that he ascribed to it?

- A. Yeah [Final hearing transcript, pages 100, 101].
- 12. At the time respondent forwarded the notice of voluntary dismissal to State

Farm, there had been no summons, complaint or other pleadings drafted or prepared in

the referenced matter [See agreed statement of facts].

13. The State Farm representative, Ed Welch, relied upon respondent's representation that a suit had been filed in agreeing to settle such suit by payment of the sum of \$415 [Final hearing transcript, pages 11 through 13 and page 47].

14. After receiving an investigative inquiry from the bar regarding the foregoing scenario, respondent requested of his secretary that she attempt to create a file in the action he had represented had been commenced and backdate the computer date entries for the documents [Final hearing transcript, pages 104 through 108].

15. Complying with respondent's request, his secretary actually produced a summons, complaint and discovery documents [Bar's composite exhibit 3 in evidence].

16. One of respondent's partners learned about the attempt to create and backdate computer date entries for documents and immediately met with respondent, the secretary in question and the remaining law partner [Final hearing transcript, pages 124 through 126 ].

15. Respondent abandoned the computer entry backdating project and did not use the documents created for any purpose.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

While blatant and substantial frauds upon institutions absent an accompanying felony conviction have rarely been considered serious enough by the court to warrant

imposition of a rehabilitative suspension, the case at bar offers an element which should push the court beyond the 90-day suspension threshold. The respondent in the case at bar openly, notoriously and flagrantly joined his secretary in his misconduct and when the bar made inquiry, urged that his secretary plunge even deeper into the murky waters of intrigue. Such actions require imposition of a rehabilitative suspension.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### POINT I THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT DID NOT VIOLATE RULES 4-4.1(a)<sup>1</sup>, 4-8.4(b) AND 4-8.4(d), RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR

The bar is mindful of the axiom that a party contesting a referee's findings of fact and conclusions of guilt "carries the burden of demonstrating that . . . the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions." Florida Bar v. Spahn, 682 So.2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996). It is respectfully submitted that the following will demonstrate that the referee's conclusions are contradicted by uncontroverted, clear and convincing record evidence which evidence conclusively establishes that respondent, in addition to violating Rules 3-4.3 [the commission by a lawyer of any act that is unlawful or contrary to justice] and 4-8.4(c) [conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation], the violations that the referee found respondent to have committed, also violated Rules 4-4.1(a) [a lawyer shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a third person], 4-8.4(b) [a lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects] and 4-8.4(d) [a lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The referee's report at page 4 makes reference to Rule 4-1.4(a) rather than 4-4.1(a) which is obviously a scrivener's error in that the bar charged respondent with commission of a violation of Rule 4-4.1(a) and the rule provision following the referee's citation is taken from Rule 4-4.1(a).

**RULE 4-4.1(a)** The proof is uncontroverted that respondent knowingly submitted a phony notice of voluntary dismissal to Mr. Ed Welch, a representative of State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company. Respondent stipulated that he did so. It is respectfully submitted that there can be no other conclusion but that respondent violated the mandate of Rule 4-4.1(a) which expressly prohibits a lawyer who, in representing a client knowingly makes a false statement of material fact to a third person.

**RULE 4-8.4(b)** In its complaint, the bar charged, inter alia, that respondent had, by his actions, violated Rule 4-8.4(b) [a lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects]. The evidence adduced at the final hearing establishes not only clearly and convincingly, but beyond a reasonable doubt that respondent knowingly presented to State Farm Mutual Insurance Company, through its representative, Mr. Ed Welch, a phony notice of dismissal as a quid pro quo for receiving funds under respondent's client's insurance policy. In urging that the respondent be found guilty of a violation of Rule 4-8.4(b), the referee was presented with section 817.234, Florida Statutes (1999) which provides:

(1)(a) A person commits insurance fraud punishable as provided in subsection (11) if that person, with the intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer:

1. Presents or causes to be presented any written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an

insurance policy . . . knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim.

2. Prepares or makes any written or oral statement that is intended to be presented to any insurer in connection with, or in support of, any claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy . . . knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim.

The referee found that the statute had no applicability to the case at bar and thereupon found that respondent did not violate Rule 4-8.4(b). The evidence establishes that State Farm Mutual Insurance Company made a payment to respondent's firm under an insurance policy issued to respondent's client. The evidence establishes that the payment would not have been made save for respondent's representation that an action had been filed. In that regard the testimony elicited from State Farm's representative was:

Q. Would you have paid Mr. Varner \$415 if he hadn't represented the lawsuit was filed?

A. No, sir. [Transcript of final hearing, page 47].

In forwarding what he knew to be a phony notice of dismissal of a law suit that he knew never existed, respondent thereby presented to State Farm, an insurer, with the obvious intent to deceive such insurer, a written statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to his client's insurance policy knowing that such written statement contained false and misleading information concerning the existence of a fictional law suit, an ipso facto violation of section 817.234 (1)(a)(1) and (1)(a)(2),

Florida Statutes (1999). Violation of the statute involving a sum of less than \$20,000 constitutes a felony of the third degree [Section 817.234(11)(a), Florida Statutes]. Such violation, in turn, creates a violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) for which respondent should be held accountable.

**RULE 4-8.4(d)** The referee concluded that respondent's misconduct did not warrant a finding that he thereby violated Rule 4-8.4(d) [a lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice. It is the bar's view that an attorney who prepares a document bearing the style and file number of a court action, thereby invokes [and cloaks the instrument with] the dignity, power and prestige of the court. The bar respectfully submits that when such document, such as the notice of dismissal in the case at bar, is fictitious and concocted by an attorney to deceive someone, it constitutes the waving of a court standard and colors for fraud and deception, a practice that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

#### POINT II THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT DID NOT VIOLATE RULE 4-5.3(b) AND 4-5.3(c)(1), RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR

The referee erred in finding that respondent did not violate Rule 4-5.3(b) [with respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer, a lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer]. It was also error for the referee to have found that respondent did not violate Rule 4-5.3(c)(1) [with respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer, a lawyer shall be responsible for conduct of such a person that would be a violation of The Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer if the lawyer orders the conduct involved].

The facts are simple. Victoria Hagar is respondent's personal secretary. She has worked with him for over ten years [Transcript of final hearing, page 96]. When Ms. Hagar was instructed by respondent to prepare the notice of dismissal, she conducted both a computer and file search for a file from which to secure the pertinent information. Finding none, she reported to respondent that no suit had ever been instituted [Transcript of final hearing, pages 97 through 100]. Respondent then, in Ms. Hagar's presence, having been informed that there was no extant lawsuit, concocted a fictitious file number and placed it on the notice that Ms. Hagar had prepared [Transcript of final hearing, pages 100 - 101]. Watching him, Ms. Hagar knew what respondent had done. She knew that the number respondent had inscribed upon the notice in her presence was fictitious

[Transcript of final hearing, page 101]. By his act, respondent had made his secretary complicit to a fraud. In the bar's view, respondent could not have strayed further from Rule 4-5.3(a), viz., the duty of a supervisory attorney to ensure that the his nonlawyer personnel's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer. What respondent did was the absolute antipode to such mandate. Respondent gave his secretary a lesson in how to be deceitful and how to commit a fraud.

To darken the climate, respondent went even further. After receiving the investigative inquiry from the bar regarding the facts underlying this matter [transcript of final hearing, page 108], respondent enjoined Ms. Hagar to explore another avenue of deceit. He asked her to investigate the possibility of creating a file in the nonexistent PIP action with backdated computer entries. Toward that end, Ms. Hagar prepared a summons, complaint, request for admissions, request to produce and interrogatories [bar's consolidated exhibit 3 in evidence]. While respondent abandoned his scheme, he had his secretary actually take concrete steps to move forward with an obvious plan to make it appear to the world that while he may not have commenced a lawsuit, he had all of the pleadings prepared and ready for service and filing. It is respectfully submitted that respondent's consigning of the task of computer entry backdating and pleading preparation to his secretary constituted the antithesis of his duty under Rule 4-5.3(c)(1).

Rather than creating and instilling an aura of professionalism in his secretary, respondent delegated to her an attempt at creating a fraud.

# POINT III THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WERE NO AGGRAVATING FACTORS

The referee referred to Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions in addressing mitigating and aggravating factors. In so doing, she concluded that none of the aggravating factors applied. It is respectfully submitted that such conclusion is erroneous. It is so clear as to be self-evident that respondent, in determining to send a phony notice of dismissal to State Farm did so as a result of a dishonest or selfish motive. Having learned that his representation to the State Farm agent that a lawsuit had been filed was untrue, respondent had a number of options available to him. He could have merely sent the funds he received back to the company with a letter of explanation. He could have called the insurance company representative, explained what happened and thereupon determined upon a course of action. His reaction was to keep the money through a deceitful act. The referee should have found that Standard 9.22(b) - dishonest or selfish motive - was an aggravating factor. Certainly, the referee should have found that respondent had substantial experience in the practice of law under that aggravating factor recited in Standard 9.22(i).

#### POINT IV A 91-DAY SUSPENSION RATHER THAN THE 30-DAY SUSPENSION RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE WILL BETTER SERVE THE PURPOSES OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINE PROCESS

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970), this court enunciated what it termed the three purposes that must be kept in mind in considering a sanction in bar discipline proceedings. The court stated:

First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations [132].

Respondent's misconduct is not an isolated act of aberrant behavior as postulated by respondent. While it does not constitute an aggravating factor under the Florida Bar Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions due to its age, respondent's 1988 private reprimand nonetheless establishes that respondent then flashed a signal of his penchant for skirting the Rules of Professional Conduct. There, respondent's associate confided in respondent, that prior to and while employed by respondent, the associate had entered into a contract with a police officer whereby the officer, in consideration of receiving a portion of the legal fee, agreed to refer cases to the associate. The associate was severely sanctioned [Florida Bar v. Stafford, 542 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 1989]. Respondent failed to report such egregious breach to the bar [See report of minor misconduct attached as appendix 1]. That lapse by respondent may well have been characterized as an isolated act of aberrant behavior. His present misconduct, however, cannot be so considered. His

falsification of what he represented to be a court document, i.e., the notice of dismissal that he concocted and to which he ascribed a fictitious file number constituted a fraud and felony, with all of the trappings. The hairline crack in his ethics armor created by his 1988 misadventure now, with his blatant act of fraud, expanded exponentially. Perhaps it is respondent's position that an ethics breaches separated by a number of years permits each such breach to be considered aberrant. In the bar's view, repetitive instances of misconduct are demonstrative of a character flaw. In the case at bar, it cannot be lost sight of that having committed the fraud, when queried by the bar, respondent's initial reaction was to task his secretary with an attempt to produce computer backdated documentation, a reaction that is a defining measure of respondent's character. The combination of actions on respondent's part simply is not reflective of aberrant behavior. The fact that respondent made his secretary a spectator to the perpetration of his fraud thereby making her complicit therein, expands the misconduct even further. Then, to instruct her to create a superstructure upon the foundation of the fraud through the generation of computer backdated entries, thoroughly distanced respondent's misconduct from the aberrant behavior respondent would urge as a rationalization to his breaches.

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