ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,)	Case No. SC96,743	CLERK, SUPPEME COURT
Petitioner-Appellant,)		
)	The Florida Bar File	
v.	No. 2000-50,249(15D)	
)		
DEWEY HOMER VARNER, JR.,)		
)		
Respondent-Appellee.)		
)		

RESPONDENT-APPELLEE,
DEWEY HOMER VARNER. JR.'S
ANSWER BRIEF

MICHAEL J. McNERNEY, ESQ., #167155 BRINKLEY, McNERNEY, MORGAN, SOLOMON & TATUM, LLP Attorneys for Respondent-Appellee 200 East Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1800 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 522-2200

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Absent a showing that the referee's findings as to guilt and sanction recommendation are clearly erroneous, this Court should affirm the referee's conclusions. The record clearly demonstrates that there is competent, substantial evidence that supports the referee's finding that Mr. Varner was not guilty of violating Rules 4-4.1 (a), 4-8.4(b), 4-8.4(d), 4-5.3(b), and 4-5.3(c)(1) regulating The Florida Bar.

In addition, the case law demonstrates that the recommended 30-day suspension sanction is a just and adequate punishment consistent with the established purposes for disciplinary actions.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT MR. VARNER WAS NOT GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULES 4-4.1(a), 4-8.4(b) AND 4-8.4(d) DEALING WITH HIS DIRECT PERSONAL CONDUCT IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that in an attorney disciplinary proceeding, "a referee's findings of fact regarding guilt [carries] a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record." The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So.2d 1269, 1271 (Fla. 1998). It is also well settled that if the findings of the referee "are supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record" then this Court is "precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting [this court's] judgment for that of the referee." The Florida Bar v. Frederick, 756 So.2d 79, 86 (Fla. 2000) (quoting The Florida Bar v. Lange, 711 So.2d 5 18, 520 (Fla. 1998)). In addition, The Florida Bar, who contends that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous, "carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions." Frederick, 756 So.2d at 86. This Court has reasoned that a party does not meet this burden "by simply repeating testimony and arguments thereon that the referee heard and rejected below." Id. Therefore, it is respectfully requested that this Court follow its holding in The Florida

<u>Bar v. Glick</u>, where it held that "a party does not meet the burden of showing that a referee's findings are erroneous simply by pointing to contradictory evidence where there is also competent, substantial evidence in the record that supports the referee's finding." <u>Frederick</u>, 756 So.2d at 86 (quoting <u>The Florida Bar v. Glick</u>, 693 So. 2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1997)).

The referee found that Mr. Varner violated two of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, specifically Rule 3-4.3 which proscribes the commission by a lawyer of any act that is unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice, and Rule 4-8.4(c) which proscribes that a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation [See Final Report of Referee, page 4]. The referee concluded, however, that Mr. Varner did not violate Rules 4-4.1 (a), 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(b), 4-8.4(d), 4-5.3(b), 4-5.3(c)(1) and 4-5.3(c)(2) [See Final Report of Referee, pages 4, 5].

Rule 4-4.1(a) In evaluating the applicability of all of The Bar's charges, the court must consider that the underlying facts deal with one basic act; the inscription of a fictitious case number on a notice of dismissal after Mr. Varner learned of his mistaken representation. Having considered the long list of charges that The Bar presented to the lower court, the referee found that Rules Regulating The Florida Bar

3-4.3 and 4-8.4(c) were the most appropriate rules to apply to Mr. Varner under the specific circumstances of this case.

When Mr. Varner first represented to Mr. Welch that he had filed suit against State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, he said so believing it to be true as he had previously requested his staff to file suit. The Bar stipulated to this fact. Accordingly, Mr. Varner did not violate the mandate of Rule 4-4.1 (a) as this rule prohibits a lawyer from *knowingly* making a false statement of material fact to a third person, whereas Mr. Varner unknowingly made a misrepresentation to Mr. Welch. The referee's finding that Mr. Varner had violated Rules 3-4.3 and 4-8.4(c) rather than Rule 4-4.1(a) is a correct and reasonable decision that those are the more applicable rules to these facts.

Rule 4-8.4(b) states that a lawyer shall not commit a *criminal* act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects (emphasis added). To support a finding of guilt, The Bar asserts that Section 8 17.234(1)(a)(1)-(2), Florida Statutes (1999)(a False Insurance Claim statute) was also violated. The Bar alleges that with the intent to injure, defraud or deceive State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, Mr. Varner presented a written or oral statement in support of a claim for payment knowing that such statement

contained a false, incomplete or misleading information. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 8 17.234(1)(a)(1) (West 1999). In addition, The Bar further asserts that Mr. Varner prepared a written or oral statement that was intended to be presented to State Farm Mutual Insurance Company knowing that such statement contained false, incomplete or misleading information. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 8 17.234(1)(a)(2).

This is a tortured interpretation of the facts. As the referee found and noted in her report, the act disputed in the case at bar does not constitute a false insurance claim. The Bar first needs to demonstrate Mr. Varner's intent to defraud the insurer. In order to satisfy the element of intent it must be shown that the conduct was deliberate or knowing. The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 73 1 So.2d 1249, 1252 (Fla. 1999). When Mr. Varner represented to Mr. Ed Welch that a suit had been filed against State Farm Mutual Insurance Company, Mr. Varner believed this to be true. As noted earlier, the Bar has stipulated to this. That same day, when the two began talking about the settlement of "the case," Mr. Varner was still under the impression that a suit had indeed been filed. In fact, when asked about a settlement, Mr. Varner, without giving much thought to the time and expenses already incurred on the case, answered that \$2 15 would cover the filing fees and that he would accept \$200 for attorney's fees [See Final Hearing Transcript, page 68-69]. The Court should note that by this time Mr. Vamer had incurred much more than \$200 worth of attorney's

fees with regard to the dispute over the medical bills and his attendance at the medical examination [See Final Hearing Transcript, page 75]. In addition, there was no violation of a false insurance claim statute or for that matter of Rule 4-8.4(b) by Mr. Varner having forwarded to Mr. Ed Welch the notice of dismissal with the fictitious case number. It is important to understand that this was an informal settlement between both parties primarily intended to finalize the pending case. Consequently, Mr. Ed Welch's letter to Mr. Varner which confirmed the settlement agreement as well as requested the notice of dismissal, did not even include the two main provisions of the agreement. [See Final Hearing Transcript, pages 36, 38]. In fact, because of the informality of the settlement agreement, Mr. Varner believed that Mr. Ed Welch needed the notice of dismissal simply to close the file. [See Final Hearing Transcript, page 75]. Therefore, although Mr. Varner forwarded the notice of dismissal with the fictitious case number to Mr. Ed Welch, he did not intend to deceive or defraud State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company of \$41 5(emphasis added). He sent the notice of dismissal believing this would end the entire misunderstanding. As the referee stated in the final hearing, this case did not begin with the idea of any pecuniary gain. [See Final Hearing Transcript, vol. II, page 39].

Rule 4-8.4(d) The referee also found that the record did not support a finding of a violation of Rule 4-8.4(d) which states that a lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice. Mr. Varner, who through testimony (discussed infra) has demonstrated a sense of professionalism and integrity sought by most attorneys, did not engage in conduct that would jeopardize faith in the administration of justice. Mr. Vamer's forwarding of the notice of dismissal with the fictitious case number to Mr. Ed Welch did not constitute a mockery of the dignity and prestige of the justice system, as Mr. Varner never presented any fictitious document before the court. Once again, attention should be given to the informality of the settlement agreement by both parties, and to the fact that Mr. Varner believed that the notice of dismissal was only necessary to close the pending case. Thereby, this Court should affirm the referee's decision, and find Mr. Varner not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(d).

II. THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT MR. VARNER WAS NOT GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULES 4-5.3(b) AND 4-5.3(c)(1) DEALING WITH HIS SUPERVISION OF HIS SECRETARY IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

In addition to the charges relating to his direct personal conduct, The Bar charged Mr. Vamer with violation of Rules 4-5.3(b), 4-5.3(c)(1), and 4-5.3(c)(2) [See Florida Bar Complaint, paragraph 15, page 5]. The referee found Mr. Vamer not guilty of all three of these charges, and The Bar has appealed the finding as to Rule 4-5.3(b) and 4-5.3(c)(1). The Bar's argument with regard to these two charges is without merit, and not supported by any competent evidence.

Rule 4-5.3(b) states that with respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer, a lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer. Rule 4-5.3(c)(1) further states that with respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer, a lawyer shall be responsible for conduct of such a person that would be a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer if the lawyer orders the conduct involved.

It is uncontradicted that Ms. Hagar's only involvement in this matter was preparing the initial notice of voluntary dismissal and the subsequent preparation of a set of pleadings that were never filed.

When Ms. Hagar prepared the initial notice of dismissal, she properly pointed out to Mr. Varner that the case had not been filed. Mr. Varner then placed a case number on the notice and mailed a copy to Mr. Welch. Later on, when Mr. Varner was confronted with what he had done, he asked Ms. Hagar to determine if pleadings could be prepared using a prior date. [See Final Hearing Transcript, Vol. II, page 21]. Thirty minutes later he told her to stop; he was going to write a letter to The Bar acknowledging what he had done. [See Final Hearing Transcript, Vol. II, pages 2 1-22].

In neither instance did Ms. Hagar engage in conduct that was a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The fact that Mr. Varner considered filing the lawsuit and asked the question about whether the dates the pleadings were created could be changed does not constitute a violation of the Rules by Mr. Varner since he quickly decided not to take such action. The Bar did not charge Mr. Varner with any violation regarding this "thought" that he had about what action to take. Does asking his secretary about what could be done and then telling her he was not going to do it constitute a violation of the Rules? Is The Bar suggesting that a new standard should

be adopted that "Thinking about doing something is the same as doing it"? During the cross examination of Mr. Raymond Holton, this exact issue was discussed and the referee stated that exploring an unethical act is not the same as doing the act, [See Final Hearing Transcript, page 153]. There is no question that there is "competent, substantial evidence to support the referee's finding."

Ms. Hagar, Mr. Varner's legal assistant, has worked under his supervision for over 10 years [See Final Hearing Transcript, page 96]. Throughout this time, Mr. Varner has demonstrated outstanding professionalism and high ethical standards as confirmed by his ex-law partner Mr. Seaman who was called as a witness by The Bar. [See Final Hearing Transcript, pages 14 1, 142].

During the time Ms. Hagar has worked under his supervision, and ultimately throughout his law career, Mr. Varner has demonstrated professionalism and high ethical standards, Accordingly, it is once again respectfully requested that this Court affirm the referee's conclusion, and find that Mr. Varner did not violate Rule 4-5.3(c)(1).

111, THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT THERE WERE NO AGGRAVATING FACTORS IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The referee, referring to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Standards, found no aggravating factors applicable to the case at bar and did find several mitigating factors The Bar asks this Court to find that Standards 9.22(b)—dishonest or selfish motive and Standard 9.22(i)—substantial experience in the practice of law, apply as aggravating factors. Mr. Varner did not act in a dishonest or selfish way when he represented that he had filed suit against State Farm Mutual Insurance Company, when in fact unknowingly, he had not. The Bar has stipulated that he believed that the suit had been filed. [See Agreed Statement of Facts]. There is no evidence in the record that there was any "selfish" motives underlying Mr. Varner's proposal for settlement. The agreed upon settlement figure of \$415 was to cover filing fees and a token amount for attorney's fees. These amounts are not indicative of a claim of dishonesty and selfishness. Mr. Varner had spent hours trying to resolve this dispute and for \$200 in attorney's fees was certainly not being dishonest or selfish. [See Final Hearing Transcript, page 75]. His actual fees totaled a higher amount and the client got her disputed medical bills paid and Mr. Varner was allowed to attend the medical examination. Furthermore, Mr. Varner's experience in the practice of law had nothing to do with his mistaken belief that suit had been filed nor his inappropriate action in putting a case number on the notice of dismissal. He admits making a stupid mistake for which he takes full responsibility, and it is not unreasonable for the referee to determine that his experience is not a relevant factor under these circumstances. [See Final Hearing Transcript, Vol. II page 19].

IV. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A 30-DAY SUSPENSION IS CONSISTENT WITH THE PURPOSE OF DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The three purposes for a bar disciplinary action are: (1) the judgment must be fair to society; (2) it must be fair to attorney; and (3) it must be severe enough to deter other attorneys from similar misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Nunes, 734 So.2d 393, 399 (Fla. 1999). The referee's recommendation of a 30-day suspension is consistent with all three of these purposes and should be affirmed.

The referee found there were three mitigating factors and The Bar has not appealed that finding. The three mitigating factors which the referee found applicable were: (1) Standard 9.32(d) as Mr. Varner made a timely good faith effort to make restitution and to rectify the consequences of his misconduct; (2) Standard 9.32(l) as he demonstrated being remorseful for his actions; and (3) Standard 9.32(g) evidence of his character and reputation.

The record is clear on each of these three factors. Four witnesses, including The Bar's own witness (Mr. Alan Seaman, Mr. Varner's ex-partner at the law firm), and United States District Judge Shelby Highsmith, all attested to Mr. Varner's good character, reputation, and remorse. Having practiced law beside Mr. Varner for 10 years, approximately the same time Ms. Hagar has been Mr. Varner's secretary, Mr. Seaman, when asked about his opinion of Mr. Vamer's personal integrity, testified:

- A. Leaving out this event, I think Dewey is a fine and honorable lawyer, and I think that his reputation in the community
- Q. and by "this event" you mean the signing of the voluntary dismissal
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Do you think that that act on his part was abhorrent or unusual behavior by him
- A. Yes, certainly. [See Final Hearing Transcript, page 14 1].

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